IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

THOMAS DALE WATTS

VERSUS

KIMBERLY J. WATTS

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

NO: 2010-CA-00613

APPEAL

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT, THOMAS DALE WATTS:

MICHAEL B. HOLLEMAN (MS, hollemanlawfirm@bellsouth.net HOLLEMAN LAW FIRM, PLLC 2004 24th Avenue Gulfport, MS 39501 (228) 868-0064 office (228) 868-0925 facsimile

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Issue 1: A Chancellor must accept as true uncontroverted evidence and may not make "quantum leaps" from the evidence to reach unsupported findings. Where the evidence is uncontroverted that the mother engaged in a pattern of abuse and alienation conduct toward her 12-year-old child, over the nine months prior to separation, for the admitted purpose of making him feel shameful of his father; and that the father never said a negative word to his son about his mother, attempted to avoid arguments and shield his son from her abusive behavior; it was an abuse of discretion for the Chancellor to apply five *Albright* factors based on a finding that the father manipulated their son against the mother by "setting her up" to commit the abuse. The Chancellor abused his discretion in his findings and application of the *Albright* factors.
- Issue 2: Joint physical and legal custody is not appropriate for a 12-year-old son, where the father serves in a significant supporting relationship with the son in school and extra-curricular activities, which the mother cannot provide; and where the mother has engaged in a pattern of abuse for the stated purpose of making the son feel *shameful* about his father; refuses to speak or confer with the father, cannot hide her negative views of the father and has refused to act civilly toward the father in the presence of their son.
- Issue 3: Where, following a 12-year marriage, the Chancellor granted wife's request for ½ of all marital assets, including husband's retirement pension and wife testified to her need for temporary alimony of \$500.00 for twelve (12) months, the Chancellor's award of permanent alimony of \$1000.00 a month was an abuse of discretion. The Chancellor's finding of fault in awarding alimony was an abuse of discretion.
- Issue 4: The Chancellor's ruling that Thomas misled the Chancellor in his Affidavit submitted with his *ex parte* request for a TRO and awarding attorney fees to Kim for defense of the Affidavit and TRO was erroneous in that it was an error of law to consider the issue at trial on the merits and the ruling was not supported by substantial evidence, was manifestly wrong and a clear abuse of discretion.
- Issue 5: Thomas maintained a Journal, on the instructions of his attorney, which Kim introduced in evidence. The Journal was uncontroverted in material facts. The Chancellor's ruling that the Journal was not trustworthy was a clear abuse of discretion.
- Issue 6: The Chancellor applied the wrong standard to Thomas' post judgment motions under Miss.R.Civ.P. 59(a), abused his discretion in denying the motion under Miss.R.Civ.P. 59(e), and failed to rule on the Motion for Modification, or alternatively, abused his discretion in failing to grant the Motion for Modification. Alternatively, the Court failed to make appropriate findings of fact and conclusions of law, as required when Thomas requested such pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. 52(a).

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from the Chancery Court of Harrison County, Honorable Carter Bise presiding, where the Court decided issues by consent of the parties, who had agreed to a divorce of the grounds of Irreconcilable Differences. The appeal challenges rulings of the Chancellor regarding custody, alimony, attorney fees and Appellant's post-trial motions.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

Following months of abusive, overtly alienation conduct by his wife, the Appellee, Kimberly Watts, toward their then 11-year-old son, Trevor, culminating in her arrest on July 5, 2008, following one of her outrages, the Appellant, Thomas Watts, filed for divorce and sought temporary and permanent custody Trevor¹. On July 10, 2008, Thomas obtained a Temporary Restraining Order, based on his 13-page Affidavit, detailing Kim's conduct toward Trevor and touching on evidence relating to the *Albright* factors.² See *Albright v. Albright*, 437 So. 2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983). The TRO granted Thomas temporary custody of Trevor, appointed a Guardian Ad Litem [GAL] and set a hearing for July 22, 2008. (RE 122-124; CP Vol. 1, 37-39)³ Kim filed no pleadings challenging the propriety of the TRO.

On July 22, 2008, after counsel conferred in chambers with the Chancellor, the parties agreed to an Order for Temporary Relief, which the Chancellor entered on July 31, 2008. (RE 125-127; CP Vol. 1, 40-42) The Order for Temporary Relief appointed a new GAL, provided

¹ Where possible, the brief will refer to the parties by their first names, "Kim", "Thomas" and "Trevor".

 $^{^{2}}$ The Affidavit (Ex 5, 10, RE 107 et seq.) was introduced into evidence twice without objection (Ex 5, Vol. 3 Tr. 96; Ex 10, Vol. 3 Tr. 148). Thomas Watts affirmed the Affidavit at trial and testified in detail about most of the events in it.

for supervised visitation for the mother, pending the GAL's interim report, and ordered the parties and Trevor to undergo psychological evaluation by Dr. William Gasparrini and psychiatric evaluation by Dr. Jule Miller. The parties and Trevor met separately with the doctors and the GAL, who recommended a specific unsupervised visitation schedule for Trevor with his mother, which the parties followed by agreement. The Chancellor later entered a First Amended Order for Temporary Relief and Consolidation, setting up a specific visitation schedule. (RE 128-130; CP Vol. 1, 60-62)

Trial was conducted on March 2-5, 2009. The parties filed a Voluntary Consent to Divorce on the Grounds of Irreconcilable Differences on March 4, 2009, the third day of trial.⁴ In the Voluntary Consent, Thomas Watts reserved his objection to consideration, during the trial on the merits, of the TRO, which was never served and expired without challenge. (RE 66-70; CP Vol. 1, 63-67)

The Chancellor issued the ruling from the bench on March 9, 2009, the transcript of which was incorporated into the Final Judgment entered on April 16, 2009. (CP Vol. 1, 84-119; Bench Ruling, Vol. 7 705; RE 81, et seq.) The Chancellor found that Thomas "set Mrs. Watts up" (Bench Ruling, Tr. 713; RE 89); "play[ed] Trevor against Mrs. Watts" (Bench Ruling, Tr. 715; RE 90); "manipulated Trevor's relationship with Mrs. Watts" (Bench Ruling, Tr. 714-15; RE 90-91); "destroyed Trevor's true free will" by "stag[ing] things at home" (Bench Ruling, Tr. 717; RE 93); "actively interfered with the relationship between Mrs. Watts and Trevor"

³ Unbeknownst to Thomas, Kim retained an attorney, the brother of Thomas' attorney, and filed for divorce on the same day. Both attorneys offered to withdraw, but each client requested that they continue as their attorney and waived any potential conflict. (Vol. 3 Tr. 2-4)

⁴ The trial proceeded with an understanding that the Consent would control, as soon as it could be drafted and executed. Therefore, the testimony focused, not on grounds, but on the issues ultimately incorporated into the Consent.

(Bench Ruling, Tr. 718; RE 94)' and *"poisoned Trevor against his mother"* (Bench Ruling, Tr. 716; RE 92) The Chancellor used these findings to award joint custody and alimony.

The Court granted attorney fees to the wife based on the TRO and awarded alimony in a much greater amount and duration that the wife testified she needed, finding fault by Thomas, in part, based on the finding of manipulation and the TRO. (Bench Ruling, Vol. 8 Tr. 725; RE 101)

Following entry of the Final Judgment, on April 28, 2009, Thomas filed a motion under M.R.C.P. 59 to Set Aside, Alter or Amend the Final Judgment. (CP Supp. Vol. 1, 9-41) On July 13, 2009, Thomas filed an amended motion under M.R.C.P. 59 and 60 to Set Aside, Alter or Amend the Final Judgment, to Reopen the Evidence and/or for a New Trial. (CP Vol. 1-2, 122-173) On November 18, 2009, Thomas filed an Amended and Supplemental Motion under M.R.C.P. 59 and 60 and for Modification. (CP Vol. 2, 174-211) Thomas also moved the Court to make findings of fact and conclusions of law with regard to the motions. (CP Vol. 2, 215-216) Following hearing, the Chancellor issued an Order denying the motions. (CP Vol. 2, 217-222)

C. Statement of Relevant Facts

The material facts are largely uncontroverted.

Thomas and Kim were married on May 4, 1996 (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 23), while Kim was pregnant with their only child, Trevor, who was born on August 21, 1996. (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 18) They separated on July 5, 2008, after Kim's arrest on a domestic violence charge at their home.

In 1994, before they met, Thomas entered the Mississippi Board of Nursing Recovery Program for addicts/alcoholics, following his release from Pine Grove Recovery Center for prescription drug abuse. Thomas went to work at Gulf Coast Community Center Hospital in Biloxi, Mississippi and Kim, a nurse, was assigned to handle the medications that Thomas was not allowed to handle during his first year back at work. (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 21-23) Kim was fully aware of Thomas' prior drug usage and his involvement in the Nursing Recovery Program.

In November 2006, Thomas used a short-acting prescription narcotics three times at work before self-reporting to a doctor. He returned to Pine Grove for a one-day evaluation, which recommended only out-patient treatment". On his own, he decided to go to Lakeview a 21-day in-patient recovery center in Florida in late December 2006-early January 2007. He enrolled again in the Nursing Recovery Program, which he is in today. This is the only drug episode or alcohol episode, involving Thomas, in the 12-year marriage of the parties. (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 50-53)

1. Thomas' significant involvement with Trevor in his formative years

Trevor is a good student (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 30-31), who was encouraged to be involved in extra curricular activities, mostly supported by his father's efforts. He loved going to church and Sunday school, at Thomas' urging. (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 51) His mother opposed some of the Christian teachings, e.g., she objected to teaching Trevor about the "Holy Sprit", which she equated with "evil spirit". (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 82) Although Thomas worked full-time, Thomas' involvement in his son's life was and is phenomenal by any standard.

The Chancellor found that Thomas is extremely good with Trevor. He spends a lot of time with Trevor. He is deeply involved in Trevor's school activities, his sports activities, and his church activities. (Bench Ruling, Vol. 7 Tr. 714; RE 90) For example:

- 1. Thomas encouraged Trevor to attend Sunday school and participate in Church Youth activities. Every night at bedtime, Thomas and Trevor would read his daily spiritual reading; discuss it and then share prayer together. (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 33, 35);
- 2. In Trevor's first and second grades, Trevor was in Advanced Reading Program. Thomas would come to school after classes and sit with Trevor, while he read the assigned books (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 37);

- 3. During Trevor's first and second grades, Thomas would personally visit with Trevor's teachers, *three or four times a week*, to check on his progress. In his later grades, he would do this weekly (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 37-38);
- 4. Thomas and Trevor together built a large storage cabinet (cubicles) for Trevor's second and third grade class. (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 36);
- 5. Thomas and Trevor built a reading loft for his second grade class, complete with lighting for reading. Kim helped with the final stages garnishing the loft. (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 36);
- 6. When Trevor's school did not have the funds to purchase the new science books for the class, Thomas purchased them (Carter Vol. 3 Tr. 11);
- 7. If Trevor received a less than satisfactory paper on an assignment, his teacher testified, she would see Thomas after school (Carter Vol. 3 Tr. 10) and he would visit her regularly to see how Trevor was doing (Carter Vol. 3 Tr. 12-13) Trevor's teacher, Paulette Carter: "And I can honestly tell you that out of all of the parents, I saw him the most", describing Thomas as "...one of the excellent parents that I've ever had in teaching." (Carter Vol. 3 Tr. 14);
- Thomas was the predominant parent (70% of the time) in encouraging and supporting Trevor's extracurricular activities, including Sea Camp, Invention Camp, Golf, Space Camp, Lynn Meadow's and Discovery Center programs (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 35, 38-40);
- 9. For two years prior to trial and through the present Thomas has been the mentor for Trevor's competition Robotics program, an activity sponsored by Lego in which the 20-30 kids design and build a robot. Thomas and Trevor built a Robotics table for the class and built another for Trevor to use at home. Thomas attends 90 percent of the two meetings a week during the season, and attends daily in the last two weeks before competition. (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 40-42);
- 10. Thomas served as mentor for Trevor's sixth grade Chess Club (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 43-44);
- 11. Thomas was predominantly responsible for taking Trevor to the dentist, the orthodontist, and the pediatrician (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 42);
- 12. When Trevor was in Violin class for several years, which met one hour after school, Thomas would go to school and wait with him until Violin class started and then bring him home afterwards. Thomas attended all of his recitals; Kim missed one. (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 44-45);
- 13. When Trevor was at home, Thomas and he would do what fathers and sons do. They would hit golf balls, shoot BB guns, play paintball, throw Frisbees, kick the soccer ball, things fathers do with their son (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 46)

2. Kim's abusive, alienation conduct toward Trevor

According to Thomas, his wife exhibited rapid mood changes during the marriage. She can be normal and in a matter of moments, be "angry, upset, hostile, threatening" and sometimes "she can have long bouts of a depressive-like state where she's withdrawn and upset." (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 49) According to Dr. Gasparrini, she has "sufficient *antisocial and aggressive personality* traitsto contribute to *tension, acting out, hostility*, and a tendency to blame others for problems," and "*very significant paranoid tendencies*", which often led to conflict. (Ex 11, Gasparrini, Kim Watts, pp. 6-7, RE 180-181) This left Thomas and Trevor walking on eggshells. (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 49)

In October 2007, Kim's father died following a long illness. Shortly after the death of her father, Kim told Thomas she wanted a divorce. (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 123; KW Vol. 7 Tr. 629) Thomas opposed a divorce and wanted desperately to save his marriage. (TW Vol. 4 Tr. 157; KW Vol. 6 Tr. 541)

In anticipation of divorce, Kim sought to change Trevor's view of his father. Over the course of the next nine months, Kim engaged in numerous instances of hostility and emotional abuse toward Thomas and Trevor, attempting to impress Trevor's mind with a most wicked images of his father for the *stated purpose* of teaching Trevor to feel *shameful* of his father. (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 86) This persistent emotional abuse forced Thomas to change his mind about the divorce and to take steps to protect Trevor. These events were the focus of the trial. Too numerous to detail here⁵, there are several that bear detailed description to understand the magnitude of the Chancellor's erroneous findings.

⁵ The material testimony and exhibits are arranged by incident in the Record Excerpts (RE 1-54).

In the fall of 2007, Kim and Thomas were having an argument in the kitchen. Kim wanted Thomas to leave the house. When he refused, Kim called Trevor from his room to the kitchen and told him, that his parents could not get along and that if his father did not leave the house, she was going to call the police. She told the child that *the police would take him to "juvie"* (juvenile detention) and not allow him to come back. This frightened Trevor tremendously. (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 48) Trevor was "almost crying, shaking, head down, very upset". (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 56; RE 1-3)

Throughout this period, Kim constantly tried to teach Trevor that his father was a bad person. Sometimes she would just blurt it out, "Your Dad is a liar⁶, don't grow up to be like him."⁷

In November 2007, the three of them were in the family car coming back from soccer, when Kim pulled into a parking lot at AutoZone and instructed Trevor to look into his father's eyes, while she told him that his father had lied to him last year, when he had really been in rehab. Under protest from Thomas, she continued, "Your father is a liar. He's lied to me. He's lied to you. He's going to continue lying to you. He lied about where he was last year." This shook up the child tremendously. He had his head down and was visibly frightened from the situation. (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 37-38) (RE 3-6)

In early January 2008, Kim and Thomas went to **Emeril's** restaurant for dinner, where Kim got drunk from wine. (RE 7-15) On their return, Kim started a fight in the bedroom, telling Thomas that he could shower or stay on that side of the house. Wishing to avoid an argument, "without words or incident", Thomas took his shower and retreated to the other side of the house, where he and Trevor had set up a tent in the television room to watch movies and "camp out".

Kim pursued. Thomas sent Trevor out of the room to insulate him from what was coming. However, Kim commanded Trevor to stand between her and Thomas. Angrily, she started in on Trevor, "Your father's a liar. He's lied to you. He's lied to me. He's lied to everybody. He's going to continue to lie to you. He's lied so much that the State of Mississippi has to step in and regulate him." (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 62) Thomas tried to stop her. "I try to stop her. I try to, "Kim, this is not appropriate. Do not do this. Do not involve the child. This is wrong. You're scaring him. Please don't do this."" (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 62) After enduring this for several minutes, Trevor was shaking and had tears in his eyes. (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 62-63)

⁶ It is not clear exactly why Kim called Thomas a "liar", a "defect" she sought for months to impress on Trevor, but it apparently originates from two things. First, Kim was upset that Thomas took the medications at work and did not tell her that he was doing it. (TW Vol. 3, Tr. 81) Second, Thomas and Kim had decided that when he went to treatment in late 2006, Trevor was not old enough to handle that information about his father. Therefore, Thomas did not tell his ten-year-old child that he was in recovery and had gone to treatment. (TW, Vol. 3, Tr. 37)

⁷ See, e.g., incident at breakfast table (TW, Vol. 3 Tr. 54); ride home from soccer, (TW, Vol. 3 Tr. 65).

Finally, she left them alone and they were almost asleep in the tent, when Kim returned and made Trevor go to his room, stating. "If I'm going to be miserable, we're all going to be miserable, so he can just go to bed." (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 63-64) Thomas followed Trevor to his room, tucked him in his bed, and read his nightly devotion with him. Comforting him, Thomas told Trevor, "You know, I'm sorry that this didn't happen. It's not about you. Your mother's mad at me. Don't take offense to it. We'll make it better later. You know, everything's going to be okay." (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 64; RE 8)⁸

On February 2, 2008, Kim returned from a **Mardi Gras parade** in an angry mood and started complaining about her family. (RE 17-26) When Tom refused to engage and went to watch TV with Trevor, Kim pursued and angrily pelted Thomas with questions. Thomas protested, "*Please don't have this conversation in front of Trevor*. This is so wrong to do this."

When Thomas still refused to engage her, Kim turned to Trevor and instructed him to speak directly to his father, "Trevor, ask your father. Ask him why he lied. Ask him why he did drugs. Ask him why he took care of patients while under the influence. Ask your father why he says he loves me and wants to be in this family, yet he'll go and do drugs."

Trevor went from happily sprawled out watching TV to ball up with his arms around his knees staring at the couch and fidgeting with his hands, as he does when he is nervous. At one point, Trevor started viciously tearing up a piece of paper, he was so shaken.

Kim demanded that Trevor ask his father. When Trevor starts to do as instructed, Thomas interjected, "This is not going to happen. I am not having this conversation."

Kim continued, "Your father's lied to you. He's lied to me. He's lied to everybody." "The State has to regulate him. He's going to lie to you again."

Trying to stop her, Thomas stated, "Kim, you're scaring this child. You've got to quit this. You cannot do this."

After it was over, Trevor crawled into Thomas' lap and Thomas held him. Thomas told him, "It's not about you. This is nothing to do with you. Don't ever think it has anything to do with you. Your mom's mad at me. This is her just being mad at me, and I'm so sorry it has happened." (TW Vol. 3 Tr. 65-68; RE 18-26)

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