SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2010-TS-00613

THOMAS DALE WATTS

APPELLANT

VS.

KIMBERLY J. WATTS

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT CAUSE NO. C2401-08-01827-4 AND 08-01816-4 HONORABLE CARTER BISE, PRESIDING TRIAL JUDGE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE:

DEAN HOLLEMAN, MSB # BOYCE HOLLEMAN & ASSOCIATES 1720—23rd Avenue-Boyce Holleman Blvd. Gulfport, MS 39501 (228) 863-3142 Telefax (228) 863-9829

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2010-TS-00613

THOMAS DALE WATTS

APPELLANT

VS.

KIMBERLY J. WATTS

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

 Does one think a week on a cruise ship and a missed week of school is not enticing? This was just another attempt to sway Trevor's favor.

- 8. Thomas once again portrayed himself to Trevor as the 'cool dad' when he allowed Trevor to bring Cuban cigars from the cruise back in to the States. Tr.223,294 Is smuggling Cuban cigars from a cruise illegal? Yes. Is this good parenting? No. [Trevor even offered his uncle George Bass one of these cigars. Tr.294]
- 9. Thomas encouraged a secret code with Trevor to 'warn' each to other of Kim: On June 18, 2008, the journal refers to Thomas and Trevor having a "beware face" to beware of Kim. Exhibit 9, March 2-5, 2009. Is it good parenting to have a 'secret' code with a young child to warn of the other parent? Does that make the other parent the 'bad' parent or the 'danger' parent? Yes.
- 10. Thomas promised to get Trevor a 'secret' meeting with the Court: On June 28, 2008, the journal reads "don't worry about it son, we'll get a secret meeting with the Judge so you can tell him who you want to live with". Exhibit 9, March 2-5, 2009. Does Thomas telling a young child that he has the power to get him a 'secret' meeting with the Chancellor manipulate Trevor? Yes. In other words, 'do not fear mom, I know the Judge'.
- 11. Trevors adopting of Thomas' views: Has manipulation not taken place when a 12 year old child claims she is the "all powerful control parent"; or that "his mother would get medical attention for anger management issues"; or when he claims a hole was put in a wall and his mother slapped his dad on July 5, 2008, when neither occurred?

There is no question Kim said inappropriate things to Trevor. She admitted and regretted this. Tr.547. However, how can Thomas on one hand truly believe Trevor is being so terribly harmed by Kim's conduct throughout the time period covered by the journal and on the other hand not do something about this 'danger' as a concerned parent? He could have filed a divorce in the Fall 2007. He could have sought to remove Trevor from any such danger early on. He did not and the obvious reason is he was sacrificing Trevor during this time period for his 'campaign' and to allow him and his attorney time to 'build his case'. ⁶

And finally, if the test of the proof is what is or what is not 'uncontroverted' then the horrendous statements of Thomas as testified to by Kim are the type of terrible parental misconduct that place Thomas's parenting skills in question Tr.548-553. While Thomas could have taken the stand in rebuttal and refuted these statements, he did not. One would wonder why he did not do so? The Chancellor's conclusions on parenting skills were supported by the substantial evidence.

Willingness and Ability to Provide Child Care

The Chancellor found Thomas to have been very active in Trevor's school and activities. He also found Kim to have participated. The support of both Kim and Thomas' involvement with Trevor and with his care has been set forth herein above. This factor favored neither parent.

⁶ It is interesting to note that Thomas Brief at Page 48 reveals that as this journal was made, Thomas emailed the journal to his attorney and his attorney ultimately decided what part of the journal to use. Appellant's Brief, P.48.

Employment Responsibilities

Because Thomas got off of his work at 3:00 each day, the Court found his factor to favor Thomas. Frankly, with Trevor's activities and his age it should have made no difference as Trevor's afternoons probably did not depend upon the presence of either parent.

Emotional Ties

Regardless of the belief that Thomas had manipulated his relationship with Trevor to gain his favor, the Court concluded this factor favored Thomas. The substantial credible evidence of this manipulation has been set forth herein above.

Moral Fitness

The Chancellor reasoned that this factor favored Kim due to Thomas' manipulation of Trevor's relationship with Kim and Thomas. The Chancellor stated he believed that Thomas somewhat poisoned Trevor against his mother. Tr.716. The heretofore referenced evidence of Thomas' conduct and manipulation supports this finding. Going further, it is believed the Chancellor's ultimate finding that this factor favored Kim is correct based not only upon Thomas' conduct towards Kim using Trevor as the pawn, but also upon Thomas' admitted past behavior of stealing drugs from his employer and using them. This behavior was criminal, although not acknowledged by Thomas. Yes, he is recovering but it is what it is. No such type of conduct on Kim's part is even suggested by Thomas.

Home, School, and Community

The Chancellor noted Trevor was an excellent student. He was active in church and sports. Both Kim and Thomas were involved with Trevor's schooling and activities,

although Thomas' schedule had allowed him a little more involvement. Tr.716. The substantial credible evidence of this involvement is set forth herein above.

Stability of Employment

The Chancellor found this factor to favor Thomas due to his employer's willingness to work with him through his relapse. The fact that Thomas has been through two drug relapses with two different employers should not be viewed as a positive, but a negative. Putting is bluntly there is no question Thomas' employment stability only rest upon whether he chooses to partake of drugs again. On the other hand, Kim has been a registered nurse for many years. Her coworkers testified of how wonderful of a coworker she is to them. Tr. 258-267. This factor should have favored Kim.

Child's Preference

While the Chancellor noted this factor favored Thomas, he attributed Trevor's preference to Thomas' "staging things". Tr.717. From the sampling of Thomas' efforts to influence Trevor as set for herein above, there is no question Thomas continuously attempted to influence Trevor's views of his mother unfavorably and his father favorably.

Other Factors

Finally, the Chancellor made special note of Thomas' active interference with the relationship between Kim and Trevor. Tr.718. The support of this interference has been set forth herein above.

Joint Legal and Joint Physical Custody

The Chancellor, as Trevor's super guardian, found that his best interest would be served by an award of joint legal and joint physical custody. Trevor's best interest is

paramount. The Chancellor reasoned that Trevor "needs to rebuild his relationship with his mother" while at the same time maintaining a strong relationship with his father.

2. Thomas' Attacks:

A. Claim: The Chancellor was "reckless" and took "quantum leaps":

Thomas asserts the Chancellor erred in his rulings due to his making "reckless" findings not supported by a "single fact" or "substantial evidence". Thomas' primarily relies upon the case of <u>Taylor v. Taylor</u>, 755 So.2d 681 (Miss.2001).

It is Thomas' claim that the Chancellor's ruling below is not supported by "a single fact" in the record and certainly not any "substantial evidence". Further, Thomas asserts based upon Taylor the Chancellor below erred because his findings were "reckless" and a "quantum leap", "having no factual basis in the record and the findings reveal the Chancellor's bias resulting in his abuse of his discretion". Appellant Brief, Pp.22-23, 42.

Thomas' problem is he is practically blind to the 'other evidence' in the record before the Chancellor. Furthermore, his total reliance upon <u>Taylor</u> is based upon a total misunderstanding of the facts of <u>Taylor</u>. According to Thomas, <u>Taylor</u> involved the following [emphasis mine]: "...the Chancellor awarded a change in custody to the father stating that he is not convinced that [the mother's new husband] is not the culprit in the sexual allegations made by the child. Id. The child had accused the stepfather of sexual abuse, and then recanted. The Court held that the Chancellor's finding was "reckless" and "a quantum leap" which had no factual basis in the record, and which we [sic] find reveals the chancellor's bias resulting in the abuse of his discretion" Id." Thomas Brief, p.42.

The problem is Thomas has the <u>Taylor</u> facts wrong. <u>Taylor</u> involved the modification of custody from the mother to the father. Both parties had remarried since their divorce. During the proceedings the mother accused the father of sexual molestation of the child. Criminal charges were filed against the father and the stepmother. These charges were dismissed. Ken, the mother's husband and the stepfather, was <u>never</u> accused of the sexual allegations. Ken did not testify. The Chancellor's error was that his ultimate finding was based upon not Ken's testimony, but the absence of his testimony:

"The real concern the Court has, though is Ken. The Court is not convinced that he is not the culprit in the sexual allegations made by the child and, again, without his testimony, [the Court] has to draw such conclusions from the evidence it has before it." Id. at 859 So.2d 1006, Paragraph 18.

In other words, the chancellor in <u>Taylor</u> ultimately based the change of custody to the father upon the fact that Ken, the step father, may have been the culprit. There was not "one fact" in the evidence to support such, but the chancellor drew his conclusion based upon the absence of Ken's testimony. The Court of Appeals held there was "no substantial basis in the record *even remotely suggesting that Ken* may have perpetrated the alleged sexual abuse in this case, with the exception of the testimony of Karen that Rodney, Jr., is modest around Ken". Id. Thus, the Court of Appeals found the chancellor's ultimate decision was not based on substantial and credible evidence *in the record*, i.e. the chancellor could not speculate on something that was not in the record.

In the instant case, there is no speculation by the Chancellor that is based upon some witness' nonexistent testimony or some other matter outside the record. The Chancellor's decision was based upon *the record* which included, but was not limited to:

the history of Thomas' journal, affidavit and seeking of emergency relief; the opinions of a psychiatrist and a psychologist; the testimony of the parties; the testimony of teachers called by both parties; the testimony of family members; the testimony of neighbors; the testimony of co-workers; etc. It would seem that Thomas would concede at least some of the evidentiary facts would suffice as a "single fact" to support the Chancellor's findings and that all of this evidence did in fact provide the substantial evidence upon which the Chancellor based his decision. Being the 'control' person he is he cannot make such a concession.

B. Claim: Dr. Jule Miller was Biased in Favor of Kim:

Thomas asserts that the testimony of Dr. Jule Miller is suspect because of the fact that after he had conducted his evaluations of Thomas, Kim and Trevor and completed his reports and recommendations he entered into an inappropriate therapeutic relationship with Kim. In fact he claims Dr. Miller was unethical. The fact is that Dr. Miller recommended Kim continue in therapy after his evaluations and she followed his recommendation and successfully. Miller Report, Exhibits 13-14 March 2-5, 2009.

Dr. Miller was appointed by the Chancellor in the July 31, 2008, Temporary Order as the psychiatrist who would evaluate the parties and Trevor. These evaluations were complete by the end of September 2008. Thereafter, between September 2008 and the trial in March 2009, Dr. Miller saw Kim six times in therapy which she successfully completed. Although, Dr. Miller recommended Trevor also undergo therapy, Thomas chose not to take him to Dr. Miller. There was nothing in Dr. Miller's seeing Kim that affects the findings and conclusions in his reports which predate his seeing Kim for therapy. Had Dr. Miller been Kim's therapist prior to or during his evaluations then it is

guaranteed Thomas would have objected to his being appointed to evaluate the parties. That was not the case. Miller Report, Exhibits 13-14 March 2-5, 2009.

Thomas cites Miss.R.Evid. 702 for the proposition that an expert's opinion cannot be based upon speculation and must be based upon what is known, i.e. uncontroverted facts. The fact that Thomas provided his affidavit or journal to Dr. Miller at the time of his evaluation listing Thomas' version of events does not establish "facts" which Dr. Miller had to except as truth. In fact Dr. Miller testified he refused to read the journal, as it was the better practice to gather his information from his interaction with the patient and to draw his conclusions there from based upon his training and experience as a psychiatrist. Tr.198, 287-289,301. That is what he did. It is also important to note the consistency between Dr. Miller's opinions about Thomas' influence of Trevor and Dr. Gasparrini's opinions. Both concluded that Trevor had sided with Thomas and as a result being influenced by Thomas. Exhibits 12-14, March 2-5, 2009.

C. Claim: Court's Bailiff: Bias and Abuse of Discretion

It is not clear as to exactly why Thomas has added this attack on the Chancellor. What is involved is that Kim's brother, Joey Holcomb, is a Court Bailiff employed by the Harrison County Sherriff's Department. While he was not the bailiff at any time during the Watts trial, he had substituted as the Chancellor's bailiff on prior occasions. This information was shared with the attorneys off the record as is shown by the record excerpt below. It does not take long to understand what transpired if one looks at the record:

The Court: And let me interrupt. Let the record reflect, and I believe we've addressed this before with counsel, but Joey Holcomb has acted as my bailiff on

occasion. I believe everyone is aware of that, and I believe everyone agreed that

there was no conflict. But I would like for that to be stated on the record for once.

Mr. Michael Holleman: Okay

Mr. Dean Holleman: That's correct.

The Court: All right. I might as well add also that my son worked one summer

with Damian Holcomb, Joey's son. I have not spoken with Joey Holcomb about

this case except to ask him what he was doing in the courtroom when it came up, I

believe, in the end of July '08, I guess on the motion to set aside the temporary

restraining order.

Mr. Dean Holleman: Yes sir.

Mr. Michael Holleman: Judge, could I have a moment?

The Court: Yes Sir.

Mr. Michael Holleman: Judge, I don't have any—we don't have any problem,

but I will state to be accurate, I didn't know that he was your bailiff until just

then. I -but my client has no problem with it.

The Court: He is not my bailiff. He has acted as a substitute bailiff for me on

occasion just as everyone in transport's available.

Mr. Michael Holleman: I'm not—I have no problem with it.

At Tr. 492:

So, if Mr. Michael Holleman had no problem with it and Thomas had no problem with it why is this now an issue on appeal? Why did Thomas and his attorney not promote judicial economy and save client's time, lawyer's time, and all the other resources that have gone into this case by objecting to Judge Bise continuing on the case and asking for his recusal? How can Thomas now assert bias and an abuse of discretion after Thomas decides he is now unhappy with Judge Bise's ruling? Is that fair? Is that right? It is neither.

Is there other basis for the Chancellor's finding that Thomas manipulated the Court on July 10, 2008, in securing the temporary restraining order? As covered in detail, there was plenty of evidence Thomas manipulation of his journal and resulting affidavit was solely to use them in his divorce proceeding, which is exactly what he did. This attempt at creating error on the part of the Chancellor is wholly without merit.

Thomas has waived any objection to the Chancellor's having put on the record that Kim's brother had been his substitute bailiff on prior occasions. There is a general requirement that objections must be raised at the trial level. *In re S.A.M.* 826 So.2d 1266, 1277 (Miss.2002); *In re V.R.*, 725 So.2d 241, 245 (Miss.1998). *See Riley v. Doerner*. The Supreme Court has stated that "[i]f no contemporaneous objection is made, the error, if any, is waived." *Dorrough v. Wilkes*, 817 So.2d 567, 577 (Miss.2002) (quoting *Walker v. State*, 671 So.2d 581, 597 (Miss.1995). Thomas claims that the Chancellor's failure to recuse himself is a matter of plain error and therefore the issue should not be barred. Only where a fundamental right of a party has been violated can an appellate court address plain error issues on appeal. *Pub. Employees' Retir. Sys. v. Dishmon*, 797 So.2d 888, 897 (Miss.2001). This is not the case here. The Chancellor has already put a lot of time into

this case. He had already presided over a majority of the hearing, including the issuance of the Temporary Restraining Order and the subsequent temporary orders. There is no 'plan error' to be considered. *Mabus v. Mabus*, 847 So.2d 815, 818 (Miss.2003).

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